1983

Marathon Ranching Co. Ltd., and Hans W. Roeck v. Synergetics. A Utah Limited Partnership. By And Through Its General Partner. Lancer Industries. Inc. , A Corporation; And Addland Enterprises, Inc. : Brief of Appellants

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for money damages and for rescission of an agreement providing for the exchange of certain real property owned by defendant Marathon Ranching Co., Ltd., located in the Province of Saskatchewan, Canada, for an ocean-going sailboat allegedly owned by plaintiff Addland Enterprises, based upon averments that the transaction was the product of defendant's fraud, misrepresentations and deceit.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

After the district court denied defendants' motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, default judgment was entered against defendants when Hans W. Roeck did not appear for the taking of his deposition pursuant to an order of the court.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment and remand to the district court for entry of an order dismissing plaintiff's complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 9, 1983, plaintiffs filed a complaint against defendants, seeking money damages and rescission of an agreement providing for the exchange of certain real property owned by defendant Marathon Ranching Co., Ltd., located in the Province of Saskatchewan, Canada, for an ocean-going sailboat allegedly owned by plaintiff, Addland Enterprises, Inc., then located in the State of California. The complaint and amended complaint allege that the exchange agreement was the product of defendants' fraud, misrepresentation and deceit.

The plaintiffs, respectively are a Utah limited partnership, whose general partner is an Illinois corporation, and a California corporation; and the defendants, respectively, are a Canadian Corporation and a Canadian citizen residing in California.

Prior to May 23, 1980, plaintiffs and defendants carried on negotiations in California, and Canada, for the exchange of Canadian property for an ocean-going sailboat (R. 25). On May 23, 1980, the negotiations culminated in the execution of an agreement in the City of Saskatoon in the Province of Saskatchewan, Canada, which provided that Marathon Ranching Co., Ltd. would convey to Y.M.S., a Utah partnership, certain Canadian real property

in consideration for an ocean-going sailboat, the "Enterprise," being sold to Marathon Ranching by Addland Enterprises, Inc., a California corporation (R. 25, 16-20). Synergetics was the previous owner of the sailboat. Concurrently therewith, on May 23, 1980, the "Enterprise" was conveyed from Addland Enterprises, Inc., to Marathon Ranching, under an instrument executed in Saskatchewan (R. 016-020). Thereafter, prior to filing the instant lawsuit, the parties exchanged telephone calls and correspondence regarding the agreement, and Hans Roeck came to Utah on a skiing vacation with his family at which time the agreement was discussed (R. 027-029).

Marathon Ranching Co., Ltd., is a corporation organized under the laws of the Province of Saskatchewan, Canada, with its principal place of business in Saskatoon (R. 24). Hans Roeck, its president, is a Canadian citizen residing in California. Neither defendant has ever been authorized to conduct business in Utah nor have either transacted business or maintained an office, other business facility or even a telephone in Utah (R. 024-025). No officer, director, agent or employee of either defendant has ever been stationed in Utah, nor were any sent to Utah to enter into negotiations for the purchase by defendants of the "Enterprise", which culminated in the purchase agreement executed in Saskatoon on May 23, 1980 (R. 24-25).

Marathon Ranching Co., Ltd., and Hans Roeck responded to plaintiffs' complaint and amended complaint by appearing specially and moving to quash service of summons and to dismiss the complaint for lack of jurisdiction (R. 21-22). In support of their motion to dismiss, defendant Hans Roeck submitted an affidavit contesting the court's jurisdiction. Plaintiffs did not

submit counter-affidavits or any other evidence to controvert Roeck's affidavit.

After a hearing, the Honorable David B. Dee denied defendants' motion to dismiss by an order entered on June 1, 1982, without findings of fact, conclusions of law or a memorandum decision (R. 42-43). Defendants filed a petition to grant an interlocutory appeal to the Utah Supreme Court (R. 87-89).

At a hearing on July 15, 1982, the district court stayed all proceedings pending grant or denial by the Utah Supreme Court of defendants' petition to grant an appeal (R. 84-86). The court directed that should the Supreme Court deny defendant's petition, they were required to file an answer or other responsive pleading to plaintiffs' amended complaint and to produce defendant Hans Roeck for the taking of his deposition within five business days thereafter (R. 85).

On July 22, 1982, the Utah Supreme Court denied defendants' petition to grant an appeal, and defendants filed an answer to the amended complaint (R. 66-70), again raising the defense of lack of personal jurisdiction.

On July 28, 1983, defendants moved the district court for a protective order on the grounds, inter alia, that all of the corporate books and records of defendant, Marathon Ranching Co., Ltd., a non-resident Canadian corporation, were kept and maintained in Canada, and that it would be unduly burdensome for defendant Roeck, who was under doctor's orders not

to travel at the time, and who was then in Hawaii, to come to Salt Lake City for the purpose of taking his deposition (R. 71-78). Plaintiffs responded by moving to strike defendants' answer and award a default judgment, and for an order compelling defendants to disclose the whereabouts of the boat and to cause it to be brought to a place designated by the court and held in storage pending the outcome of the litigation.

The court denied plaintiffs motions for sanctions, and to compel disclosure of the boat's whereabouts and to require it to be placed in storage, and ordered the defendant Roeck appear for his deposition no later than August 27, 1982 (R. 137-38).

On August 18, 1982, defendants moved for an order vacating the deposition date and for a protective order allowing the deposition of Hans W. Roeck to be taken on September 13, 1982 (R. 113-16).

On August 26, 1982, the district court entered an order requiring defendant Roeck to appear for a deposition no later than September 3, 1982 (R. 167-68). The court further ordered that in the event Roeck failed to appear, upon the ex parte application of plaintiff, defendants' answer would be stricken and default judgment entered (R. 167-68).

Pursuant to the notice of plaintiff Synergetics, the deposition of defendant Hans Roeck, was set for September 3, 1982, at 11:00 a.m. Defendant Roeck appeared for the deposition at the date and time specified in the notice. Following a series of questions concerning his personal life,

Roeck caused the deposition to be terminated by refusing to answer further questions and leaving the deposition (R. 204-06).

Following the aborted deposition, Roeck indicated his willingness to attend a rescheduled deposition and to submit to any proper questions posed by plaintiffs' attorneys (R. 206). Plaintiffs refused to accommodate Roeck's request and insisted that they were entitled to entry of a default judgment. On October 6, 1982, plaintiff Synergetics, filed a Supplemental Motion to Strike Defendants' Answer and to Enter a Default Judgment, or to Impose Sanctions Against Defendants, and for the court to issue "the equitable equivalent of a writ of replevin" to protect plaintiffs against loss of the boat.

At a hearing on November 18, 1982, the district court denied plaintiffs' motion, but ordered defendants to produce Roeck for the taking of his deposition by or before November 29, 1982 (R. 223-25). At the time the order was entered, Hans Roeck was outside of the continental United States, out of communication with his attorneys, and received no notice of the discovery order or default proceedings (R. 257).

Upon Roeck's non-appearance, the court entered default judgment against defendants on March 14, 1983. Plaintiffs were awarded judgment against defendants in the sum of \$352,000 for conversion of the subject sailboat; title to the sailboat was quieted in plaintiffs; plaintiffs were awarded \$100,000 in rental value of the sailboat; plaintiffs were awarded punitive damages in the sum of \$200,000; all contracts and agreements between

plaintiffs and defendants were rescinded; and plaintiffs were awarded their costs (R. 279-82). In awarding damages, including punitive damages, the trial court did not hear any evidence or conduct a hearing.

ARGUMENT

I

THE TRIAL COURT LACKED PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER THE NON-RESIDENT DEFENDANTS BECAUSE INSUFFICIENT MINIMUM CONTACTS EXIST BETWEEN DEFENDANTS AND THE STATE OF UTAH.

Respondents do not allege that appellants are "doing business" in Utah sufficiently for general in personam jurisdiction to attach (R. 30-33, 240-243). See Burt Drilling, Inc. v. Portadrill, 608 P.2d 244, 246 (Utah 1980). Therefore, if jurisdiction over the non-resident defendants is to be had at all, it must be under the Utah Long-Arm Statute, Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-22 et seq. (Repl. 1977). Under that statute, a plaintiff must show that the claims upon which suit is brought "arose out of one or more of defendant's contacts within this state as set forth in Section 78-27-24." Roskelley & Co. v. Lerco, Inc., 610 P.2d 1307, 1309 (Utah 1980). Section 78-27-24 enumerates several varieties of contacts that warrant the court's exercise of personal jurisdiction over non-residents. Section 78-27-24 provides as follows:

78-27-24. Jurisdiction over nonresidents - Acts submitting person to jurisdiction. - Any person, notwithstanding section 16-10-102, whether or not a citizen or resident of this state, who in person or through an agent does any of the following enumerated acts, submits himself, and if an individual, his personal representative, to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state as to any claim arising from:

- (1) The transaction of any business within this state;

- (2) Contracting to supply services or goods in this state;
- (3) The causing of any injury within this state whether tortious or by breach of warranty;
- (4) The ownership, use, or possession of any real estate situated in this state.
- (5) Contracting to insure any person, property or risk located within this state at the time of contracting.
- (6) With respect to actions of divorce and separate maintenance, the maintenance in this state of a matrimonial domicile at the time the claim arose or the commission in this state of the act giving rise to the claim.

Plaintiffs maintain in their amended complaint that defendants are subject to the jurisdiction of the Utah courts under § 78-27-24(1) ("transaction of any business within this state") and § 78-27-24(3) ("causing of any injury within this state") (R. 31).

Respondents indisputably had the burden of proving facts necessary to establish the personal jurisdiction of the district court. See, e.g., Air Kaman, Inc. v. Penn-Aire Aviation, Inc., 526 F.Supp. 66, 68 (D. Conn. 1981). A plaintiff must plead sufficient material facts to establish a basis for jurisdiction under a state's long-arm statute. Hickock Teaching Systems, Inc. v. Equitech, 421 So. 2d 722, 723 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1982); Verges v. Lomas & Nettleton Financial Corp. 642 S.W. 2d 820, 821 (Tex. Civ. App. 1982). See Fleet Leasing Inc. v. District Court, _____, Colo. _____, 649 P.2d 1074, 1078 (1982); Howard v. Craighead, _____ Ark. _____, 644 S.W. 2d 256, 257 (1983); United States Dental Institute v. American Association of Orthodontists, 396 F.Supp. 565 (D.C. Ill. 1975); Texair Flyers v. District Court, 180 Colo. 432, 506 P.2d 367 (1973); Wuertz v. Garvey, _____ Minn.

_____, 178 N.W. 2d 630 (1970). In meeting this burden mere conclusory allegations do not suffice. Howard v. Craighead, supra, 644 S.W. 2d at 257; Nacci v. Volkswagen of America, 297 A.2d 638 (Del. Super. Ct. 1972). If, as in the present case, a defendant challenges plaintiff's jurisdictional allegations by affidavit, the plaintiff must then support its allegations by affidavit or other proof. Hickock Teaching Systems, Inc. v. Equitech, supra 421 So. 2d at 773. On a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, if a defendant's affidavit contesting jurisdiction is not refuted by a counter-affidavit filed by the plaintiff, the facts alleged in the defendant's affidavit are taken as true. Caicos Petroleum Service Corp. v. Hunsaker, 551 F. Supp. 152, 153 (N.D. Ill. 1982); Kutner v. DeMassa, 96 Ill. App. 3d 243, _____, 421 N.E. 2d 231, 235 (1981); Oddi v. Mariner Denver, Inc., 461 F.Supp. 306, 310 (S.D. Ind. 1978).

In the present case, the plaintiffs alleged in their amended complaint that prior to the execution of the agreement of May 23, 1980, defendant, Hans Roeck, "made several telephone calls to offers [sic] and agents of the plaintiffs, Synergetics and Lancer, into the State of Utah, to discuss the transaction which is the subject matter of plaintiffs' complaint herein" (R. 31). In his affidavit in support of defendants' motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, Hans Roeck stated that the negotiations for the exchange of plaintiff's sailboat for the Saskatchewan property occurred in California and Canada, and that no agent, officer, director or employee of Marathon Ranching Co., Ltd., had ever been sent into the State of Utah to conduct business (R. 24-25). Plaintiffs did not controvert the statement in Roeck's affidavit that the May 23, 1980, agreement was negotiated in Canada and California, not Utah.

Plaintiffs' factual allegations contained in their amended complaint and the affidavit of Robert D. Kent annexed thereto, in support of personal jurisdiction, are as follows: First, prior to the execution of the May 23, 1980, agreement, Roeck made several telephone calls into Utah to discuss the transaction. Secondly, after the execution of the May 23, 1980, agreement, Roeck wrote several letters made several telephone calls into Utah from California, Canada and elsewhere to plaintiffs' officers concerning the transactions. Last, on or about March 17, 1981, plaintiffs allege that Roeck came to Utah and negotiated, an agreement modifying the May 23, 1980, agreement (R. 30-33).

Appellants' single isolated physical contact with Utah for the purpose of a skiing trip, at which time an incidental negotiations of a modification to the May 23, 1980, agreement occurred, does not afford a basis for personal jurisdiction in an action to rescind the original agreement.

In Roskelley & Co. v. Lerco, Inc., 610 P.2d 1307 (Utah 1980), plaintiff brought an action against defendant, a Kentucky corporation, alleging breach of an oral contract to pay a commission in connection with the sale of certain machinery by defendant for use in Utah by a Utah corporation. The defendant moved to quash service of process, supporting the motion by an affidavit of its president. The affidavit recited that plaintiff had telephoned defendant in Kentucky to inquire about the possibility of acting as broker for the defendant in Utah. Defendants sold machinery to U.S. Steel Credit Corporation, which was ultimately leased to Utah American Steel and installed

in Utah. Thereafter, defendants' officers and representatives traveled to Utah to supervise the installation of the machinery.

In reversing the lower court and ordering plaintiff's complaint dismissed for lack of personal jurisdiction, the Utah Supreme Court noted that plaintiffs could not rely upon defendants' Utah contacts with respect to the installation of the machinery to form a jurisdictional basis for their contract claim.

But we are not here concerned with defendant's contract for the sale of goods to U.S. Steel Credit Corporation, nor with the installation of the equipment at the Utah American Steel plant, and plaintiff's claim does not arise out of those activities.

* * *

Here, defendant's purposeful activities within this State consisted of its sale of equipment ultimately destined for installation in this State, and its entry into this State for the purpose of overseeing the installation of that equipment. These contacts would be sufficient for the establishment of limited jurisdiction if this litigation concerned an action for breach of warranty or negligence in installing the equipment, brought by Utah American Steel or U.S. Steel Credit Corporation, but this plaintiff cannot avail himself of such contacts for the purpose of his claim on an entirely different contract. To do so he must show that this State has general jurisdiction; to wit, the defendant has conducted substantial and continuous business in this State. Plaintiff has shown no purposeful activity on the part of defendant within this State by which it could be said that defendant knew or should have known that it was subjecting itself to the jurisdiction of our Courts, for the purposes of this alleged contract for commissions.

610 P.2d at 1309, 1312 (emphasis added).

All of plaintiffs' causes of action as set forth in their complaint and amended complaint arise under "various purported contracts and agreements" entered into in May, 1980 (R. 2-3). The relief prayed for was rescission of that agreement, together with compensatory and punitive damages (R. 4). The purported modification agreement of March 17, 1981, concerning which

Roeck made his only physical contact within the State of Utah, is not at issue in this litigation.

As to subjecting appellants to personal jurisdiction in Utah for the purpose of suit on the May 23, 1980, agreement, there are only two factors to which respondents can point tying Marathon Ranching Co., Ltd. and Hans Roeck to Utah, viz., telephone calls to Utah prior to the transaction, and telephone calls and letters to Utah subsequent to the transaction. With respect to the pre-May, 1980, telephone calls, they did not involve negotiations for the sale and purchase of the subject sailboat (R. 25). It is evident from the United States Supreme Court cases that it would be unconstitutionally impermissible and unfair to subject appellants to the personal jurisdiction of the Utah Courts under these circumstances.

The due process clause of the fourteenth amendment serves as a limitation on state assertions of jurisdiction over non-resident defendants pursuant to long-arm statutes. World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 291, 100 S.Ct. 559, 564, 62 L.Ed. 2d 490, ____ (1980).

The purpose of the Utah long-arm statute is to permit the exercise of jurisdiction over non-residents to the extent permitted by the due process clause. Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-22 (Repl. 1977). Therefore, a court must engage in a "search for the outer limits of what due process permits." Tietloff v. Lift-a-Loft Corp., ____ Ind. App. ____ 441 N.E. 2d 986, 989 (1982). The scope of the due process inquiry has evolved from numerous Supreme Court cases and is well-settled. Peanut Corp. of America v. Hollywood Brands, Inc., 696 F.2d 311, 314 (4th Cir. 1982).

In determining the constitutional reach of a state's personal jurisdiction over a non-resident who maintains only a single or few contacts with the forum courts have applied a three-pronged test:

First, the defendant must have purposefully availed itself of the privilege of acting within the forum state thus invoking the benefits and protections of its laws. Hanson v. Denckla, *supra*, 357 U.S. 235 78 S.Ct. 1228, 2 L.Ed. 2d 1283 (1958). Secondly, the cause of action must arise from defendant's activities within the forum state. See Southern Mach. Co. v. Mochasco Indus., Inc., 401 F.2d 374 (6th Cir. 1968); Electric Regulator Corp. v. Sterling Extruder Corp., 280 F.Supp. 550 (D.Conn. 1968). Lastly, the acts of the defendant must have a substantial enough connection with the forum state to make the exercise of jurisdiction over it reasonable. International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310 66 S.Ct. 154, 90 L.Ed. 95 (1945); See Southern Mach Co. v. Mochasco Indus., Inc., 401 F.2d 374 (6th Cir. 1968); See also In-Flight Devices Corp. v. Van Dusen Air, Inc., 466 F.2d 220 (6th Cir. 1972); Kourkene v. American BBR, Inc., 313 F.2d 769 (9th Cir. 1963).

Proctor & Schwartz v. Cleveland Lumber Co., 228 Pa. Super. 12, ____, 323 A.2d 11, 15 (1974). Accord, Russell v. Balcom Chemicals, Inc., 328 N.W. 2d 476, 478-79 n.4 (S.D. 1983); Siskind v. Villa Foundation for Education, Inc., 642 S.W. 2d 434, 436 (Tex. 1982).

The Supreme Court recently reaffirmed the well-established rule of International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316, 66 S.Ct. 154, 158, 90 L.Ed. 95, ____ (1945), that due process requires that certain "minimum contacts" exist between the non-resident defendant and the forum state before a court may exercise personal jurisdiction. World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, *supra*, 444 U.S. at 291, 100 S.Ct. at 564. In that case the Supreme Court also refined the "minimum contacts" doctrine by distinguishing its two separate functions: (1) ensuring a fair and reasonable forum for the defendant, and (2) ensuring territorial limits on state power. Id. at 292, 100

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