Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1983

Marathon Ranching Co. Ltd., and Hans W. Roeck v. Synergetics. A Utah Limited Partnership. By And Through Its General Partner. Lancer Industries. Inc., A Corporation; and Addland Enterprises, Inc.: Brief of Respondents

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

In a like manner defendants in our case should be precluded from contesting the finding of the Court that sufficient minimal contacts existed to establish jurisdiction by reason of their failure to comply with discovery orders.

41. <u>Conclusion</u>. The trial Court properly concluded that defendants had made sufficient purposeful "minimal contacts" with the State of Utah to permit the Utah Courts under traditional notions of justice and fair play to require the

defendants to defend this lawsuit in Utah, which lawsuit resulted in substantial part from those purposeful activities by defendants in Utah. Accordingly, the decision of the lower Court re existence long-arm jurisdiction should be affirmed.

POINT II

TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ASSESSED DAMAGES AFTER HEARING.

- 42. Counsel for defendants incorrectly argue that no hearing was held before assessment of damages. The Court held such a hearing and gave defendants full opportunity to appear, present evidence, and to make appropriate objections.
- 43. The facts surrounding the entry of judgment are set forth in \P 23 through 30 above, which shows that:
 - (a) Counsel for defendants attended the hearing which resulted in imposing sanction of striking of answer and entry of defendants' default for failure to comply with discovery orders (¶ 25 above copy of order attached as Appendix "G").
 - (b) Counsel for defendants objected to entry of judgment without a hearing to assess damages (¶ 26 above R. 266-271).
 - (c) The Court on its own motion scheduled a hearing re those objections. (\P 27 above R. 258, 264 Appendix "H" hereto).
 - (d) Court hearing was held (¶ 28 above Appendix "I" hereto) at which defendants were represented by counsel. At that hearing some of the relief sought by plaintiffs

(lein on Canadian land) was denied and the Court ordered plaintiffs to file an affidavit in support of their claims for damages. Counsel for defendants had full opportunity to object to Court's procedure, but failed to do and cannot now raise that issue for the first time on appeal.

- (e) The required affidavit re damages was filed (See ¶ 29 above). Thereafter, the Court entered its judgment, a copy of which is furnished herewith as Appendix "J". It is important to note that the judgment expressly provides that upon prompt return of the boat in good condition the \$352,000.00 of damages for conversion would be deemed satisfied, and that the Court would determine the amount of credit to be allowed if the boat was returned under different circumstances (see ¶ 2 of judgment). The judgment for \$100,000.00 rental value during the period while the boat was detained is based upon plaintiffs' affidavit and punitive damages are assessed based upon fraud and misrepresentation as detailed in that affidavit. The boat has not been and probably never will be returned. The judgment was and is justified under the circumstances.
- (f) No counter-affidavit was filed by defendants; no objections were made by defendants to the affidavit or its sufficiency; and no objections were made by defendants to the terms of the judgment itself. Issues re the sufficiency of the Court's procedures are raised for the first time on appeal.

44. Hearing was held. From the foregoing it is apparent that defendants were well represented at all stages of the proceedings; that a hearing was in fact held at which counsel for defendants were given an opportunity to present evidence, to object, etc.; that a detailed affidavit was filed by plaintiffs in support of their claim for damages, rental value and punitive damages, which affidavit included a detailed recital of the various acts of fraud and deceit practiced by defendants upon plaintiff, (R. 272-277). The Court was fully justified in entering said judgment based upon the record in this matter and that affidavit. That affidavit was requested by the Court pursuant to Rule 55(b)(2), which reads in part as follows:

"If, in order to enable the court to enter judgment . . . it is necessary to . . . determine the amount of damages or to establish the truth of any averment by evidence or to make any investigation of any other matter, the court may conduct such hearings or order such references as it deems necessary and proper." (emphasis added).

Whether or not such a hearing is held is discretionary with the Court since the rule uses the word "may". The Court, however, ordered such a hearing and requested plaintiffs' file a supporting affidavit. Defendants failed to object to the sufficiency of the affidavit and thereby waived any objection that they might have raised with respect to the content of the affidavit. See Fox v. Allstate Ins. Co., 22 U. (2d) 383. 453 P.2d 701; Strange v. Ostlund (1979) 594 P.2d 877. Having failed to object to the affidavit, which objections would have

given the District Judge the opportunity to correct any possible error, defendants cannot now raise that question for the first time on appeal.

45. Cannot raise issue for first time on appeal. Rule 46, URCP, eliminates the need for formal exceptions to the Court's rulings, but does not eliminate the requirement that some objection be made to the trial Court if the question is to be preserved for appeal. That rule reads in part as follows:

"Formal exceptions to rulings or orders of the court are unnecessary. It is sufficient that a party, at the time the ruling or order of the Court is made or sought, makes known to the court the action which he desires the court to take or his objection to the action of the court and his grounds therefor; . . ." (emphasis added)

Counsel for defendants wholly failed to "make known to the court the action which he desired the court to take" with respect to plaintiffs' affidavit or the content of the judgment itself, or their objections (if any) thereto, as required by that rule. Having failed to do so they cannot now raise those objections for the first time on appeal. Nelson v. Blomquist, 378 P. 2d 891, 14 U.2d 133; Corner v. Clingers, Inc., 387 P. 2d 85; Stagmeyer v. Leatham Bros., Inc., 439 P.2d 279, 20 U.2d 421. Failure to move for a new trial precludes defendants from raising on appeal the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the judgment. Brigham v. Moon Lake Elec. Ass'r., 470 P.2d 393, 24 U.2d 292

46. Appeals limited to law questions. The foregoing rules are not mere technicalities, but are founded upon constitutional

limitations on the power of the Supreme Court. Art VIII. § 9 of the Utah Constitution reads in part as follows:

"From all final judgments of the distric courts, there shall be a right of appeal to the Supreme Court. The appeal shall be upon the record made in the court below . . . In equity cases the appeal may be on questions of both law and fact; in cases at law the appeal shall be on questions of law alone."

Unless a party calls the question from which an appeal is taken to the attention of the Court and obtains a ruling thereon from the Court from which ruling an appeal can be taken, there is no question of law involved. It is only from an incorrect ruling of law by the trial court that an appeal to the Utah Supreme Court will lie. Without such a ruling all that exists is a question of fact which is not reviewable by the Supreme Court. That rule is also founded upon the sound principal that a party should not be permitted to lead the Court into error by failing to call a matter to the attention of the trial court so that appropriate correction could be made without the necessity of an appeal.

47. The Security Adjustment Bureau, Inc. v. West, 20 U.2d 292, 437 P. 2nd 214 (1968) mentioned on page 25 of defendants' brief was a situation involving reversal of an order of the District Court refusing to vacate a default judgment where the trial court had no evidence in support of its award of punitive damages in its default judgment. Our situation is clearly distinguishable in that (as indicated on P. 27 above) a hearing was held, a detailed affidavit was filed ro the fraud and deceir

practiced by defendants and the damages sustained by plaintiffs and was available to the Court in determining the amounts to be awarded as a part of the judgment. Defendants in our case had a full opportunity to object to the affidavit, to present additional evidence, etc. to the Court prior to or following entry of judgment.

48. <u>Conclusion</u>. The judgment as framed by the Court was fair and just under the circumstances, particularly where, as here, it was awarded as a sanction for repeated failure to comply with discovery and repeated disobedience of court orders.

POINT III

THE COURT WAS JUSTIFIED IN STRIKING DEFENDANTS' ANSWER AND ENTERING DEFAULT JUDGMENT IN VIEW OF DEFENDANTS' REPEATED DISOBEDIENCE OF DISCOVERY ORDERS.

49. Summary of disobeyed court orders. For the convenience of the Court, and to assist in more fully understanding the frustration experienced by plaintiffs and the Court from defendants willful and repeated disregard of discovery and orders compelling discovery, we have set forth in ¶ 7 through 31 a summary of the court proceedings which led to the Court finally striking defendants' answer and entering of the default judgment, and have attached hereto as an appendix, copies of various minute entries and Court orders which defendants dispersed, as follows:

- Appendix "A" 7-15-82 orders production of documents and appearance by Roeck for deposition within 5 days after denial by Supreme Court of defendants' petition for interlocutory appeal.
- Appendix "B" 8-19-82 order requiring production of documents by 8-16-82 and that Roeck appear for deposition no later than 8-27-82.
- Appendix "C" 8-26-82 orders that Roeck appear for deposition no later than 9-3-82 and that, upon failure to do so upon ex-party application, defendants' answer will be struck and default judgment entered for relief requested.
- Appendix "D" 9-3-82 partial copy of Roeck deposition where Roeck refused to answer questions and walked out of deposition after 15 minutes of questions.
- Appendix "F" 11-18-82 orders that Roeck appear for his deposition and produce documents within 10 days and that Roeck not leave deposition until excused by counsel for plaintiffs; that upon failure to comply the court will feel compelled to strike answer and enter default.
- Appendix "G" 12-29-82 orders answer struck and default judgment be granted.
- is inexcusable. From the foregoing it is clear that the Court was most tolerant of defendants' excuses and that the Court repeatedly gave defendants additional chances to comply but that defendants wilfully failed to do so. The only point raised on appeal by defendants is that Roeck allegedly had no notice of the orders and accordingly no opportunity to comply, (defendants' brief, pages 27-29). In support of that claim, defendants' brief cites the following unsworn declaration by Jones, co-counsel for defendants (R. 256-257):

"The undersigned further declares that the defendant Hans W. Roeck has been unavailable for approximately

45 days, outside the continental United States, and has received absolutely no notice or knowledge of any of the proceedings or orders leading up to and including the apparent order of the above entitled Court striking defendants' answer in the above entitled matter and for entry of judgment against defendants and in favor of plaintiffs." (emphasis added).

That motion is dated Januray 5, 1983, (R. 256-257), which means that Roeck had not been in contact with his counsel since about November 21, 1982, (a Sunday), however counsel for defendants motion for permission to withdraw states that Roeck has not been in oral communication with his attorneys since September 10. 1982, and has not been in written communication since October 7, 1982, (R. 227, ¶ 3). That motion for permission to withdraw is based upon Roeck's "failure to maintain contact and communication with his lawyers throughout this litigation," (R. 226, ¶ 1). Apparently that failure on the part of Roeck to communicate with his lawyers continued through March 14, 1983, when the judgment was signed by the Court, since there were no further offers by Roeck to appear for the taking of his deposition and no documents were produced within that time. Apparently the October 7, 1982, communication was Roeck's September 21, 1982, affidavit (R. 204-206) wherein he offered to return to Salt Lake City to complete the deposition (R. 206, ¶ 5). Notwithstanding that offer by Roeck to return and submit to deposition, he wholly failed during the following six months to contact his counsel to determine whether or not his offer to return had been accepted. It is difficult to believe that said offer was made in good faith when he thereafter completely ignores his

attorneys and the pending legal proceedings. Willful failure of a client to keep in contact with his attorney is inexcusally. It is difficult to understand defendants' "due process" arguments based upon lack of actual notice to the client (Defendants' brief page 27) when lack of notice resulted solely from Roeck's willful failure to communicate with his attorneys.

- "defendants' failure to comply with the court's discovery order is excusable," without offering any reasonable excuse other than that Roeck simply chose to ignore the Court's orders, failed to keep in contact with his attorneys for approximately 6 months (or more), and ignored his obligations in this lawsuit. It is doubtful, in view of the conduct of Roeck, that the documents would have been produced or the deposition would have been taken had the Court given defendants another 6 months. Either the discovery rules mean something or they don't. If every lawsuit were met with this type of misconduct the Courts would be clogged and justice would be denied. Repeated refusal to obey court orders cannot be tolerated. To tolerate such misconduct would wholly destroy our system of law and order which is based upon compliance with Court orders.
- 52. Prior decisions affirming sanctions for failure to permit discovery. The Utah Supreme Court has affirmed similar sanctions by the lower Court in various cases where the conduct of the defendant was less flagrant than in our situation, as follows.

(a) In <u>Tucker Realty</u>, <u>Inc. v. Nunley</u>, 16 U.2d 97, 396 P.2d 410, the Utah Supreme Court affirmed a judgment awarded because defendant did not comply with pretrial discovery order to produce documents supporting claim of discharge of promissory note.

and the second second

- Village, Inc., (1977) 568 P.2d 734 the Utah Supreme Court affirmed a default judgment where there had been a frustration of the judicial process, as where (as here) the failure to respond to discovery impedes trial on the merits and makes it impossible to ascertain whether the allegations of the answer have any factual merit. [In our situation, the disregard by Roeck of discovery orders was far more outrageous than the fact situation in the above-quoted case. In that case belated answers to interrogatories were served after the motion and prior to the hearing and the Court imposed the sanctions without first making an order compelling discovery].
- 53. Possible remittitur. Should the Court determine that the punitive damages award are excessive (we believe that they were fully justified under the circumstances) this would be an appropriate case for the Court to order a remittitur as to a part of the punitive damages and to affirm the balance of the judgment. See <u>Utah State Road Comm. v. Johnson</u>, 550 P.2d 216.

CONCLUSION

- 54. A substantial part of plaintiffs' claim arose out of fraud and deceit, practiced by Roeck in Utah, in connection with negotiation and signing of a supplemental contract which substantially changed the rights of plaintiff under the exchange agreement, which the Court properly found to constitute sufficient "minimal contacts" for the Court to exercise long-arm jurisdiction over the defendants. Defendants repeated failure to comply with discovery orders justified the Court in finally striking the answer and entering /judgment by default. Defendants' counsel participated in the hearings, which resulted in the judgment, which judgment was supported by a detailed affidavit re fraud and deceit by/defendants and resulting damages to plaintiffs. Defendants waived any objection that they might have raised to the sufficiency of that affidavit by failing to object to the affidavit or/to the judgment itself. Defendants cannot contest the sufficiency of said affidavit for the first time on appeal. Defendants have had their opportunity to litigate the matter on its merits and have refused to do so. It is unlikely that defendants would behave any differently if a new trial were granted, based upon their prior misconduct as discussed above.
 - 55. The Court's judgment should be affirmed.